
Santa Clara City Council Page 1 
November 9, 2016 

SANTA CLARA CITY COUNCIL MEETING 

WEDNESDAY, NOVEMBER 9, 2016 

MINUTES 

 

 

THE CITY COUNCIL FOR THE CITY OF SANTA CLARA, WASHINGTON COUNTY, 

UTAH, met for a Regular Meeting on Wednesday, November 9, 2016 at 5:00 p.m. in the City 

Council Chambers of the Town Hall at 2603 Santa Clara Drive, Santa Clara, Utah. 

 

Notice of the time, place and agenda of the meeting was provided to the Spectrum and to each 

member of the governing body by emailing a copy of the Notice and Agenda to the Spectrum 

and also, along with any packet information, to the mayor and each council member, at least two 

days before the meeting. 

 

Present:   Mayor Rick Rosenberg 

Council Members: Herb Basso, Jerry Amundsen, Ken Sizemore, Jarett Waite, Mary Jo (Tode) 

Hafen 

City Manager:         Edward Dickie 

City Recorder:      Chris Shelley 

 

Others Present: Jack Taylor, Public Works Director; Corey Bundy, Building Official; Brad 

Hayes, Parks Director; Matt Ence, City Attorney; Bob Nicholson, City Planner; Ann Evans; Kent 

Frei; Jeriah Threlfall; Lance Rigby; Jared Bates; Steren Beesley; Karen Shuman; Valerie King  

 

1. Call to Order: Mayor Rosenberg called the meeting to order at 5:00 p.m. 

 

2. Opening Ceremony: 
 

     -  Pledge of Allegiance:  Ken Sizemore 

     -  Opening Comments:  Ken Sizemore 

 

 3. Communications and Appearances: None 

 

4. Working Agenda:  
  

A. Public Hearing(s): None 

 

B. General Business: 

 

4.  Request Approval to appoint Jeriah Threlfall as a new Member of the Economic 

Development Commission (EDC).  Presented by Mayor Rosenberg. 

 

 - Mayor Rosenberg stated that Jeriah Threlfall has another commitment so he has 

requested that this item be moved up.  He said that this was discussed when the EDC 

gave their presentation to the City Council.  He asked Mr. Threlfall to introduce himself 

to the Council.   

 - Jeriah Threlfall stated that he is planning on being a long-time Santa Clara resident.  He 

said professionally he works for economic development for the St. George area and he is 



Santa Clara City Council Page 2 
November 9, 2016 

on the Economic Development Council.  He said he loves to serve the City of Santa Clara 

and wants to help push economic development forward.   

 - Mayor Rosenberg said that he will be a great addition to the EDC.  

 - Herb Basso said that he brings great insight to the Commission. 

 

Motion to Approve Appointment of Jeriah Threlfall as a new Member of the Economic 

Development Commission (EDC). 

Motion by Herb Basso, seconded by Ken Sizemore. 

Voting Aye: Ken Sizemore, Jerry Amundsen, Tode Hafen, Herb Basso and Jarett Waite. 

Voting Nay: None 

Motion Carried.  
 

1. Request to build multiple buildings.  (Applicant Kent Frei).  Presented by Corey Bundy, 

 Building & Zoning Official.    

 

- Corey Bundy stated that this item was tabled on October 26 to request to take care of 

the land use items.  The request is for multiple buildings on an R-1-10 lot.  It is zoned R-

1-10 with an historical overlay.  The General Plan designation is low-density residential 

and it also has neighborhood commercial along Santa Clara Drive.  It is on 0.45 acres.  

The applicant, Herb Basso, is the property owner.  The representative is Kent Frei.  This 

project did come through Planning Commission for a zone change.  The zone change was 

tabled by Planning Commission back in September.  The zone change request was for a 

four-plex townhome and a commercial development.  The reason it was tabled was 

because Planning Commission felt that it needed to be more historical in nature and they 

wanted the parking in the rear.  This is a new request for the same property.  The 

applicant proposes to build three units on 19, 600 square feet or 0.45 acres site.  There 

was an existing 3-dwelling home that burnt down on this lot in 2000.  The home was 

never rebuilt.  Santa Clara City Ordinance, Section 17.24050 states “the restoration of 

damaged buildings allows the restoration of existing buildings which are destroyed by 

fire, flood, or other acts of God provided the building is restored within 1 year of the 

destruction”.  In this case 12-15 years have passed since the home was destroyed by fire, 

therefore all claims to a grandfather use have expired.  This ordinance was passed for the 

grandfathering by City Council back in 1979.  He said that the current zone is R-1-10, 

which allows one home on this parcel.  Should the applicant acquire an additional 400 

square feet necessary to split the lot into two 10,000 square foot lots, then two homes 

could be built according to the R-1-10 zoning.  In the past, Staffs request for variance of 

R-1-10 zoning on parcels across the street in the downtown area were denied.  Council 

was firm in not allowing precedence to be set for reducing the R-1-10 zoning 

requirements.  He said that the applicant wants to put three homes on this.  He doesn’t see 

how this would work with the R-1-10 zoning.  It would have to be rezoned to a PD zone.   

- Mayor Rosenberg stated a conflict.  He said the Firm he is working for is working with 

Mr. Frei as a client.   

- Herb Basso also stated a conflict.  He is in the process of selling the property to Mr. Frei 

and that is why his name is on as the applicant.  He said it was probably overlooked the 

first time because his involvement is not in this development.  He will defer to Kent.   

- Ed Dickie, City Manager stated that the sentence should read “an applicant requested a 

variance” not “Staff requested a variance”.  He said that Staff brought it to the meeting 

and stated they looked it over. 



Santa Clara City Council Page 3 
November 9, 2016 

- Kent Frei, Applicant, said that his views and approach are a little bit different.  He feels 

that when someone is going to lose their right, they should get notice of that loss.  At no 

point was anyone every told in the chain of ownership on this lot that they weren’t going 

to have the grandfather right to build 3 units.  It was not a house that was 3 units.  It was a 

house and a duplex.  They were legal 3 units with different meters.  He asked to approach 

the Council with some documents.  He said that usually when a right is going to be taken 

away from somebody, they need to be told about that right.  So not having been told, do 

you lose that right?   

- Matt Ence, City Attorney said that the Ordinance that Corey Bundy cited is right on 

point with this situation because it refers to a property that has been destroyed in a fire 

and it states clearly that if a restoration isn’t accomplished in a year that that non-

conforming use is no longer permitted.  The thing with non-conforming uses is that there 

is no guarantee that non-conforming uses can continue in any event.  When a zone 

change takes place it’s not unusual for City Councils to even put into place a schedule 

where over a period of years certain non-conforming uses have to change and this is 

basically a form of that saying that once a non-conforming use ceases for a period of 

time, then the owner has to comply with the current zoning.  He said that Mr. Frei has 

some options to consider.  He said he could look at a zone change on the parcel and get 

the use and density that he wants.  He said a variance is an option but a variance is kind 

of a long shot.  This is pretty clear-cut.  In order for multiple units to be built on the 

property, there is going to have to be another way.  One option is to change the 

Ordinance.  That is something the City Council has the power to do if they desire to.  He 

said there are things to consider and discuss.   

- Kent Frei said that there is a moral obligation here and he feels strongly about that.  He 

said there were 3 units.  They burnt down.  At no point was anybody in the chain of 

command told that if it wasn’t rebuilt within a year, the right will be lost.  He asked the 

Council how they would feel if they found out that they didn’t have a right that they 

thought they had.  He said that’s where he is at right now.  He is at the Council’s mercy. 

- Jarett Waite said that the letter states that the main home burned down in 2000.  What 

about the other buildings? 

- Kent Frei said that they all burned down at the same time. 

- Ken Sizemore asked about what the Council was considering tonight.  He said the 

request is for grandfather zoning but there is not grandfather zoning referenced in the 

Ordinance.  He said he isn’t sure what legal action the Council is being requested to take 

tonight. 

- Matt Ence said that goes to his point.  There is no grandfathering in this situation under 

the Ordinance.  He said that Kent Frei has the right to try to convince the City Council 

that the Ordinance should be interpreted otherwise.  He said he thinks there are other, 

better options.  This one is head on in conflict with the Ordinance.  He said that if this is 

something the Council is interested in doing, whether they agree with Kent on being a 

moral obligation or not, the Ordinance is the Ordinance.  If the Council is interested in 

doing this, they will have to find another way.   

- Ken Sizemore said that he doesn’t think that Council has any legal standing to just say 

yes. 

- Kent Frei said then he is looking for Council to find another way then, for him. 

- Mayor Rosenberg said that this is within the Historical District and would be eligible 

for the mixed use or PD zone.  There is an avenue to achieve zoning to get additional 

units. 



Santa Clara City Council Page 4 
November 9, 2016 

- Ken Sizemore said that the question is do we as a Council feel that 3 units on 0.45 acres 

is appropriate and if so instruct the applicant to come back with the correct application 

process to make that happen whether it’s a mixed use or other avenue that fits the 

Ordinance procedure. 

- Kent Frei said that he caused a little bit of a stir with Planning and Zoning because he 

started a zone change for the mixed use in the Historical District and one of the aspects 

that he found out since is that they didn’t listen on the front end.  He said he has the 

signature of ¾ of the neighbors that were for that.  He said that there were 3 or 4 very 

vocal neighbors and that’s who the Planning and Zoning listened to.  Two of the vocal 

neighbors are his relatives.  He said they are not against the units; they are against the 

zone change because they feel that the zone change opens the floodgates for more zone 

changes.  He said he always felt, buying this property that he had the right to be 

grandfathered for the 3 units.  He said he feels confident that he can get the PD mixed use 

zoning for 5 units.  He said they went through the Heritage Commission and got that 

approved.  He is trying to find a way to meet this goal without becoming a defector in the 

family.    

- Mayor Rosenberg asked if the opposed residents, opposed to the mixed use, would be 

opposed to the PD with 3 units. 

- Kent Frei said that he doesn’t know. 

- Bob Nicholson, City Planner, said that is a viable solution.  He said that Kent Frei 

wasn’t present when this came before the Planning Commission.  There were more than 3 

people opposed.  He said they didn’t like the 4 townhomes plus the building up front.  

They preferred commercial if that was possible.  If they were more receptive to mansion 

house triplex, bring that forward and go through the zoning channels.  That is right in line 

with this historic district mixed use. 

- Mayor Rosenberg asked Bob Nicholson if a PD with 3 residential units conform to the 

General Plan. 

- Bob Nicholson said they could do a 3 unit residential.  He made some suggestions.   

- Mayor Rosenberg said that would be a fairly simple way to achieve the 3 residential 

unit grandfathering and comply with the zone, to go through a zone change, if they’re not 

opposed to 3 units. 

- Kent Frei said that his uncle is opposed to a zone change. 

- Mayor Rosenberg said that he wouldn’t be building more units than what he is opposed 

to. 

- Kent Frei said that the majority of the neighborhood has signed off for it.  It is a unique 

piece of property that slopes from north to south and so it is going to have to be built up 

and creating some drainage in the back.  

- Herb Basso asked that if he were to come back with a request for zone change, PD or 

mixed use, and it did conform to the General Plan, would we be obligated to listen to the 

neighbors instead of the applicant.  He said it would vitalize downtown. 

- Mayor Rosenberg said that as long as it followed the recommendations within the 

General Plan.  

 

Motion to Direct the Applicant to reinitiate the Zone Change for the three units and follow that 

through and leave it up to the applicant to decide the design that will come back to the Planning 

Commission. 

Motion by Ken Sizemore.  

 



Santa Clara City Council Page 5 
November 9, 2016 

- Matt Ence asked if the Planning Commission actually made a recommendation on the 

initial application. 

- Corey Bundy said the motion was to table it.  He said that the building that fronted 

Santa Clara Drive, they wanted it to look more historical and they also wanted the 

parking in the rear. 

- Matt Ence said that he was wondering if there had been a recommendation, one way or 

the other, that could potentially come back to Council.  He said it sounds like it needs to 

go back to Planning Commission.   

 

Seconded by Jarett Waite. 

 

- Tode Hafen said that she was a little confused.   She said that she sat in on the Heritage 

Commission where this was discussed.  She said that we need to be careful of making 

alterations to the rulings already made.  She said at the meeting it was talked about being 

1 building in front with 2 other buildings with 2 units each in the back.  She said that was 

more than Kent was talking about now. 

- Kent Frei said that he backed off the zone change of 5 units and basically came in 

begging for a grandfather clause of the 3 units that burnt down.   

- Tode Hafen asked if he has abandoned the back building idea. 

- Kent Frei said that he has to decide if he will come back to Planning and Zoning and 

then have them make a decision and change it to a 3 unit PD. 

- Herb Basso asked if Council could dictate that they have more or less of a certain kind 

of historical nature design and require parking in the back if other people have parking in 

the front. 

- Matt Ence said that is a premature discussion. 

- Kent Frei said that he is fine with that.   

  

Voting Aye: Tode Hafen, Jarett Waite, Jerry Amundsen, Ken Sizemore and Herb Basso. 

Voting Nay: None. 

Motion Carried.  
 

2. Request to waive Impact Fees. (Applicant Kent Frei).  Presented by Jack Taylor, Public 

Works Director.   

 

 - Jack Taylor said that this was discussed at a prior Council or Work Meeting.  There is a 

history of 3 electrical meters on the back of those units.  It was a 200-amp panel that fed 

those 3 units.  It was broken up into 3 services.  There was one 4-inch sewer line and one 

water service that fed those 3 units.  It is up to Council to determine whether or not 

Council wants to give him a credit for all 3 units, power, water and sewer for impact fees 

or credit on one sewer impact fee, one water impact fee and three power services.  Those 

connections were verified and there.  He said there is still one water service and one 

sewer that us subbed into the property.  The power service has been taken down because 

they were old.  Since then the power line was upgraded and raised up in the air.  There 

will be some transformer costs and things that will have to be installed when they do the 

development. 

 - Herb Basso said the water and sewer has been upsized.  He said he paid for the costs of 

the upsizing but no impact fees were paid. 

 - Jack Taylor asked Herb Basso if he upsized the 4-inch sewer lines to 8-inch. 



Santa Clara City Council Page 6 
November 9, 2016 

 - Herb Basso said he met with Jack and Corey at the time.   

 - Jack Taylor said that if it is a 6-inch,  more units could be connected to that sewer line.  

There was only one water and sewer service to that lot.  He said if he was going to give a 

recommendation based on what was done in the past, he would recommend that Council 

give him the three electrical services impact fees and one sewer and one water or give 

him one electrical and the water and sewer service. 

 - Herb Basso asked if there were records of the upsizing. 

 - Corey Bundy said unless Herb Basso paid for something additional to get a bigger 

meter.   

 - Jack Taylor said the road will have to be cut in to run more water services. 

 - Kent Frei said that if they put in 3 units or 5 units they are going to upsize the sewer and 

water lines.  It will probably have to be done.  He is looking for clarification on the moral 

part of this.  There were 3 units built and they paid the impact fees and the hook-up fees.  

This was done legally at the time that was required by the City.  He said he is looking for 

the credit for 3 units that were paid for for hook-up fees and impact fees.   The issue is 

that he would like to know that he had that credit as he proceeds, whether it be there at 

the property or somewhere else.  He said that the size of the line is irrelevant.  He feels 

that the City has a moral obligation to say that everything was paid and done legally for 

the standards of the time and so he is looking for the hook-up fees and the impact fees for 

the credit of 3 units. 

 - Jerry Amundsen asked Kent if the previous owner paid three separate hook-up fees.   

 - Kent Frei said that whatever was required was done legally with the right building 

permits. 

 - Jerry Amundsen said that since there wasn’t three separate water connections, they 

likely paid for one water connection.   

 - Kent Frei said there is no record.  He said that at the time they paid everything that 

needed to be paid for three different units. 

 - Matt Ence asked Corey Bundy if there was any question that this was a conforming use 

at the time when it was originally built and when three units were being used. 

 - Corey Bundy said that he doesn’t know if there is a record of it.  He doesn’t know if 

there was a permit.  This was prior to the 1960’s.   

 - Matt Ence said looking this far back, would there even have been impact fees required.  

He said that he understands Kent’s point that at the time it was put into that use, they 

probably paid what was required.  There isn’t anything that shows otherwise, right? 

 - Corey Bundy said he would have to go back and check the files to see there is any 

historical data.  Some of those old building permits had building fees but hardly any 

impact fees.   

 - Mayor Rosenberg said that prior to 1960 the City didn’t collect impact fees.  He asked 

how many connections the City is paying St. George for on this lot. 

 - Corey Bundy said one. 

 - Jarett Waite asked about the amount that Kent Frei was asking for. 

 - Kent Frei said that if the house and duplex had not burned down, the impact would be 

of 3 families living there today and the credit for that impact fee and hook-up fee should 

still be viable because those fees were paid at the time that they were built. 

 - Matt Ence said he remembers 3 families living there.  He doesn’t remember the 

configuration but there were 3 units there. 

 - Herb Basso said with the historical evidence witnesses of 3 units there and they were 

conforming in a sense that they were legal and the City allowed it to continue to happen, 



Santa Clara City Council Page 7 
November 9, 2016 

they should get 3 credits.   

 - Jack Taylor asked Matt Ence that if it loses it’s conforming use according to the 

Ordinance, does it lose that use. 

 - Matt Ence said it has to be separated from the issue that was discussed before because 

the Ordinance is specific to the approved use or nonconforming use under the zone.  It’s 

totally silence about impact fees or meters or hook-ups.  That’s why the City Council has 

to struggle with this because there is nothing in the Ordinance that gives direction how to 

handle this.  He thinks this needs to be taken on a case-by-case basis because each base is 

a little bit different.  He said the fact that the use was non-conforming at the time the 

house burned down is relevant to this question.  Kent makes a good point that if the house 

hadn’t burnt down, there would be 3 families, 3 units there legally using those utility 

connections.   

 - Jack Taylor said that there are two witnesses that have seen those building so his 

recommendation is that the City give him the impact fees but if there is any infrastructure 

that needs to be put in power or sewer or water wise, the applicant needs to pay those 

fees. 

 - Tode Hafen asked how this applies to the Ordinance where it burnt down. 

 - Matt Ence said it does not.  The Ordinance talks about whether a person can restore a 

non-conforming use after a year.  This question is whether the City wants to give them 

credit for utility connections that existed.  He said in his mind that is a totally different 

question.  He doesn’t think the Ordinance applies to this. 

 - Jack Taylor said he wants to make sure everyone is treated fairly and the City is setting 

a precedence for others.   

 - Jarett Waite asked if this credit is for one home or is that including the 3 power meters. 

 - Jack Taylor said that is Staff’s recommendation but according to Matt there were 3 

families living there and he said that there were 3 meters on the back.  It was a 200-amp 

panel that served those 3 meters.  If we give Kent Frei 3 impact fees we are basically 

giving him 600-amps instead of 200-amps because each of those units will need a 200-

amp panel.  We only have record of one water meter and one sewer connection. 

 - Kent Frei said he doesn’t have a problem with it whether it’s there or somewhere to pay 

for the impact fees.   

 - Tode Hafen asked if they would need to be increased.  If it is a restaurant or something 

that is different services. 

 - Kent Frei said that at this point he would just go with 3 residential.   

 - Ed Dickie said that a couple of the impact fees have changed since then.  It’s the credit 

whether the number has changed or not.  There are some impact fees that can’t be 

waived, whether from the County or the Water District and other fees that come along 

with the building permit. 

 - Jarett Waite asked if we really need to know what the square footage of the other units 

were to figure out what the credit should be. 

 - Jack Taylor said that whatever the square footage of the home, it’s going to use the 

same amount of service.   

 - Corey Bundy said that the only thing based on square footage is the building fee, the 

planning review fee and the 1% endangered species fee.   

 - Jack Taylor said he would be responsible to pay for the connection fee, the water meters 

that need to be installed and the power meters that need to be installed. 

 - Ed Dickie said he would be responsible for everything except the impact fees to the 

City. 



Santa Clara City Council Page 8 
November 9, 2016 

 - Kent Frei said those hook-up fees were paid at the time.  He doesn’t mind paying for the 

actual cost of the meter, upsizing.  But it worries him when he is told he is going to have 

to pay hook-up fees.   

 - Jack Taylor said it is $260 per meter on a house.  It is a lot more expensive then it was 

back then.  He thinks it is fair that Kent buys new meters.   

 - Matt Ence said that makes sense.  It isn’t general impact on a system, it is tied to a cost. 

 - Jack Taylor said his recommendation is that Kent Frei be given the impact fees for the 

power and the water and the sewer for 3 units.  If he puts anymore he will have to pay. 

 - Mayor Rosenberg asked about streets, parks, storm water, and public safety. 

 - Ken Frei said he is asking for all impact fees on 3 places. 

 - Matt Ence recommended that Herb Basso not make a motion on this one. 

 

Motion to Approve the Waiver of Three Full Unit Impact Fees for this property.  

Motion by Jerry Amundsen, seconded by Jarett Waite. 

Voting Aye: Jarett Waite, Jerry Amundsen, Tode Hafen, and Ken Sizemore.  

Voting Nay: None 

Abstaining: Herb Basso 

Motion Carried.   
 

      3. Consider approving the month of November as National American Indian Heritage 

Month.  Presented by Ed Dickie, City Manager.   

 

- Ed Dickie said that the Daughters of the American Revolution, who have 

representatives here at the meeting, have asked the City to approve this.  He had the 

representatives introduce themselves. 

- Karen Shuman, Regent of the Color Country Chapter of the Daughters of the American 

Revolution and Valerie King, the Vice Regent, said that Native American Awareness 

Week began in 1976 and it was recognized and expanded by Congress and approved by 

President George Bush in August of 1990.  It designated the month of November as 

National American Indian Heritage Month.  She said she is asking Council to give them a 

proclamation referring to this as being the National American Indian Heritage Month. 

- Ken Sizemore said that they are termed American Indian in one place and Native 

American in another.  Why are there two different terms? 

- Karen Shuman said it just changed in wording from the National level to the local level.   

 

Motion to Authorize the Mayor’s signature on this resolution and Approve the Proclamation of 

the month of November as National American Indian Heritage Month. 

Motion by Ken Sizemore, seconded by Herb Basso. 

Voting Aye: Herb Basso, Ken Sizemore, Jerry Amundsen, Jarett Waite and Tode Hafen. 

Voting Nay: None 

Motion Carried.   
 

5. Set a Public Hearing for Dec. 14, 2016 at 5:00 p.m. to Discuss or Take Action on Power 

Impact Fees.  Presented by Jack Taylor, Public Works Director.   

 

- Jack Taylor said the Public Hearing just needs to be set.  The 200-amp impact fee will 

drop $941.  It will go from $4,739 to $3,798.  It will reduce $941 for every residential 

200-amp service.  Larger ampage went up a little bit and so did commercial. 



Santa Clara City Council Page 9 
November 9, 2016 

 

Motion to Set a Public Hearing for Dec. 14, 2016 at 5:00 p.m. to Discuss or Take Action on Power 

Impact Fees. 

Motion by Herb Basso, seconded by Jerry Amundsen. 

Voting Aye: Jerry Amundsen, Tode Hafen, Jarett Waite, Herb Basso and Ken Sizemore. 

Voting Nay: None 

Motion Carried.   
   

6. Request to rezone 9.06 acres located at North Town Road and 400 East from Planned 

Development Residential to Planned Development Residential with a Conditional Use for 

Short Term Rentals and a Density Bonus approval of 9.27 units per acre for the proposed 

Ocotillo Springs Residential Development and Approve Ordinance 2016-14.  Presented 

by Bob Nicholson, City Planner. 

 

 - Mayor Rosenberg stated that this was tabled from an earlier meeting.  He said that his 

firm was working on this project so he wants to note that he has a conflict of interest. 

 - Bob Nicholson said that this was tabled from the last Council Meeting.  It is located on 

the west City boundary.  It is adjacent to North Town Road and the future Hamblin 

Parkway.  There is 84 proposed units on 9 acres.  They are all two-story units.  There is 

12 four-plexes and 6 six-plexes for a total of 18 buildings.  They all have attached two-

car garages.  The density bonus request is because it is over 8 units per acre. It is up to 

9.2 units per acre and they want approval for short-term rentals.  The project proposes a 

pool, clubhouse, small playground area, a volleyball court and two tennis or pickle ball 

courts.  At the meeting it was tabled primarily for the applicant to bring in a rendering 

and a materials board.  He told the Council that before them is the materials board.  It 

does have tile roofs.   

 - Lance Rigby talked about the colors of the materials. He said he didn’t bring the red 

color samples because he has decided that that wouldn’t look good.  He said they have 

added a stucco sample because the Ordinance does say to have a mix of stucco, hardy 

plank, brick, and rock.    

 - Bob Nicholson said that the Planning Commission recommended approval.  He said 

they were going to use hardy board and felt it was a nice change from stucco.  It is more 

expensive than stucco.  He said Ivins residents requested that the streetlights be hooded to 

protect the night sky.  Planning Commission recommended approval with suggestion to 

the Council that they consider hooded streetlights. 

 - Jarett Waite asked about the location of the pickle ball courts and where they are in 

relation to other properties. 

 - Mayor Rosenberg said it is next to the Western Corridor Highway. 

 - Tode Hafen said that she isn’t crazy about looking at garages in front.  Can that be 

modified? 

 - Lance Rigby said if you look at this whole project, this was part of Tuscany Ridge then 

this parcel went back to the bank and was then purchased but it was all part of the bonus 

density.  He said they took the same buildings they had but changed the roofline and the 

style.  He said that they have more architectural detail.  With the different colors and 

mixture of material it will look nice.   

 - Mayor Rosenberg said that on the perimeter of the project, you won’t see the garages.  

  

 



Santa Clara City Council Page 10 
November 9, 2016 

Motion to Approve the request to rezone 9.06 acres located at North Town Road and 400 East 

from Planned Development Residential to Planned Development Residential with a Conditional 

Use for Short Term Rental and a Density Bonus approval of 9.27 units per acre for the proposed 

Ocotillo Springs Residential Development and Approve Ordinance 2016-14. 

Motion by Ken Sizemore, seconded by Jerry Amundsen. 

Voting Aye: Herb Basso, Jarett Waite, Ken Sizemore, Jerry Amundsen, and Tode Hafen. 

Voting Nay: None 

Motion Carried.   
 

7. Consider Cancelling the November 23rd City Council Meeting.  Presented by Chris 

Shelley, City Recorder. 

 

Motion to Approve Cancellation of the November 23, 2016 City Council Meeting. 

Motion by Jerry Amundsen, seconded by Tode Hafen. 

Voting Aye: Herb Basso, Ken Sizemore, Jerry Amundsen, Jarett Waite and Tode Hafen. 

Voting Nay: None 

Motion Carried.   
 

5.  Reports: 

    

A. Mayor / Council Reports 

 

Jerry Amundsen: 

- Flood Control Authority met last week. 

- Washington County Solid Waste Board Meeting was this week. The cost of processing 

and selling the recycling has gone up and the benefits have come down.  They don’t have 

enough money to operate with the $15 per ton that the district was paying them which 

included the $2.98 that the residents were paying.  The cost is going up to $45 per ton.  

The thought is rather to raise each resident’s fee; the proposal is to have the District 

subsidize them for a couple of months while there is a renegotiation of the contract.  The 

company, Rocky Mountain Recycling, has purchased a facility to sort and pack the 

recyclable materials here in Washington County because most of the cost is going to 

shipping.  The cost of doing business will go down. They will be having another meeting 

in December. He asked the Council and Staff if it would benefit the City if the District 

billed residents for solid waste instead of the City.  The District is considering because 

they can then provide smaller cans for people who aren’t using two full cans and they can 

charge a lesser amount per household instead of one set fee.  Herb Basso liked the idea.  

Mayor Rosenberg said they would have to deal with collections and oversight and the 

City wouldn’t.  Jack Taylor asked Jerry if the City would lose control.  Would they start 

raising their rates?  Ed Dickie said that he liked the idea.  He said the residents would like 

it. 

 

Tode Hafen: 

- Got a call from Brooke and Lanie and they said they are not going to do the Princess 

Pageant next year.  They would like the Council to find someone so they can shadow 

them and then take over next year.  Mayor Rosenberg said that their title is event 

coordinators and will this reduce their salaries.  Tode said that the Princess Pageant was 

by volunteer.  Herb Basso suggested using Facebook or the newsletter to get the word 



Santa Clara City Council Page 11 
November 9, 2016 

out.  Tode asked the Council to think about names and call her with suggestions within 

the week.  Mayor Rosenberg suggested Nancy Gubler.     

 

Jarett Waite: 

- Mosquito Abatement meets tomorrow.   

- Footage came back from CEC TV.  It’s rough footage.  We have 34 production hours.  

Mayor Rosenberg mentioned the Reporter.  She is funded through the University and the 

CEC jointly and is looking for stories.  She does a great job.  If we have something the 

Council would like to see, let him know.    

 

Herb Basso: 

- Christmas Choir concert will be cancelled.  Some of the directors are having health 

problems. 

- He asked Jack Taylor if there is a date set for the Council to take a tour of the wells.  

Jack Taylor said it could be set up on a Work Meeting but it would have to be an early 

Work Meeting because it gets dark early.  He could set it up for January.  Herb Basso 

said that this tour along with any other tour of facilities would be good for Council and it 

would give Staff the opportunity to introduce budget ideas and share their challenges.    

 

 Ken Sizemore: 

 - Proposition 1 will most likely not pass. Mayor Rosenberg asked how the roads were 

going to be maintained without Prop 1.  Fees or taxes are probably going to have to be 

raised.  Ed Dickie stated that up north a lot of the Cities will  end up doing a property tax 

increase or adding a street fee.  Mayor Rosenberg said that he likes the Street Revenue 

Fee because it is dedicated for streets.  Ed Dickie said that Santa Clara has already set 

that up.  

 - The State Scenic Byway Committee has hired a new Coordinator.  She will be pursuing 

some initiatives.   

 - The Vet Memorial Committee will be meeting on November 22.  He said they are close 

to $20,000 towards the monument.  Charlie is 14 flags short of having the flags up for 

Veteran’s Day.  He did it all by himself.  If you see him, thank him for his service.  Herb 

Basso asked about getting grants for the memorial.  Ken Sizemore said he is not aware of 

any grant money available.  He thinks the community ought to be able to raise the funds 

for that. 

 

Mayor Rosenberg: 

- Flood Control Authority met.  They held the Public Hearing for the 2017 Budget.  It 

was approved.  Santa Clara doesn’t have anything in next year’s budget with the 

exception of some vegetation management funds that we’ll be able to spend on the Santa 

Clara and Sand Hollow Wash.  They approved the 5-year plan that has $100,000 coming 

beginning in 2019 or 2020 to help pull vegetation and sediment out of Lower Tuacahn 

Retention Basin.  We are hoping to get some work for the Fire Department Crew.  Have 

him contact Christian Edwards. 

- Mayor’s Association met and we talked about the CEC including some of their long-

term plans.   

- COG met.  He told Jack to get his project in.  They have approved a lot of projects.   

 

 



Santa Clara City Council Page 12 
November 9, 2016 

7. Approval of Claims and Minutes:   

 

- October 26, 2016 City Council Meeting 

- November 2, 2016 City Council Work Meeting 

- Claims through November 9, 2016 

 

Motion to Approve the Regular City Council Meeting Minutes October 26, 2016, the City Council 

Work Meeting Minutes from November 2, 2016 and claims through November 9, 2016. 

Motion by Jarett Waite, seconded by Tode Hafen. 

Voting Aye: Herb Basso, Ken Sizemore, Jerry Amundsen, Jarett Waite and Tode Hafen. 

Voting nay: None 

Motion Carried.   
 

6. Executive Session:  

 

Motion to go into Executive Session.  

Motion by Jerry Amundsen, seconded by Herb Basso. 

 

 Entered Executive Session at 6:55 p.m. 

 

Reconvened at 7:11 p.m.  

 

- Mayor Rosenberg stated that one appraisal has come back on the Larson’s home and the 

other appraisals are expected.  The property owners are nervous and concerned that the City 

is neglecting the landslide. He said they are going to get with FEMA to talk about options.  

He said they are going to find out what we can do.  There will be some issues with the 

appraisal. 

- Matt Ence said they did tell the property owners that they could have copies of the 

appraisals.  He said that we need to visit with FEMA first and have an idea of what the City 

can and can’t do.  He said not to discuss this yet.   

- Mayor Rosenberg said that the soil testing is underway.  They are drilling down to 150 feet 

cautiously.  They are trying to map the slide plane and locate it.   

 

8. Calendar of Events 
 

- November 23 City Council Meeting Cancelled 

- November 24, Thanksgiving 

- Offices Closed November 24th & 25th  

- December 7, 2016 City Council Work Meeting 

- December 8 at 6:30 City Christmas Party 

 

9. Adjournment: 

 

Motion to adjourn by Ken Sizemore. 

Seconded by Herb Basso with all members present voting aye. 

Meeting Adjourned at 7:17 p.m. 

 

 



Santa Clara City Council Page 13 
November 9, 2016 

 

    __________________________    Date Approved: ________________ 

Chris Shelley – City Recorder 

 


